慶應義塾大学学術情報リポジトリ

Keio Associated Repository of Academic resouces

Title	Conditional effect of FWA on organizational outcomes via inclusion climate : a mediated moderation approach
Sub Title	
Author	川瀬, 萌馨(Kawase, Moka)
	林, 洋一郎(Hayashi, Yoichiro)
Publisher	慶應義塾大学大学院経営管理研究科
Publication year	2022
Jtitle	
JaLC DOI	
Abstract	
Notes	修士学位論文. 2022年度経営学 第3965号
Genre	Thesis or Dissertation
URL	https://koara.lib.keio.ac.jp/xoonips/modules/xoonips/detail.php?koara_id=KO40003001-00002022-3965

慶應義塾大学学術情報リポジトリ(KOARA)に掲載されているコンテンツの著作権は、それぞれの著作者、学会または出版社/発行者に帰属し、その権利は著作権法によって 保護されています。引用にあたっては、著作権法を遵守してご利用ください。

The copyrights of content available on the KeiO Associated Repository of Academic resources (KOARA) belong to the respective authors, academic societies, or publishers/issuers, and these rights are protected by the Japanese Copyright Act. When quoting the content, please follow the Japanese copyright act.

慶應義塾大学大学院経営管理研究科修士課程

学位論文(2022 年度)

論文題名

Conditional effect of FWA on organizational outcomes via inclusion climate: A mediated moderation approach

主 査	林 洋一郎
副查	山尾 佐智子
副查	大藪 毅
副查	

氏 名	川瀬	萌馨

所属ゼミ | 林洋一郎 研究会 | 氏名 | 川瀬萌馨

(論文題名)

Conditional effect of FWA on organizational outcomes via inclusion climate: A mediated moderation approach

(内容の要旨)

Due to the declining birthrate and aging population, the working population recedes, which stimulates organizations to employ people with diverse backgrounds. Organizations use a range of strategies to keep workers with different demands. One organizational approach used to manage a diverse workforce is flexible work arrangements (FWA). FWA has been described by Rau & Hyland (2002) as a work alternative that typically permits flexibility in terms of "where" and "when" work is accomplished. Employees may attain work-life balance with the help of FWA, which lowers stress, boosts engagement at work, and reduces the possibility that they'll abandon their employment. Examining if FWA promotes an inclusive workplace would help to clarify the link. Procedural justice is used as moderator since it reveals whether FWA is indeed operating fairly. Mediated moderation analysis is done using data collected via an online questionnaire, which consists of various job types with a total number of 1006 responses. The results show that inclusion climate significantly mediates FWA usage and work engagement. FWA promotes the idea that the company values its employees' individuality and actively supports their preferred working methods, which strengthens the feeling of community among the workforce. Employees who create a sense of belonging connect with the company, contribute to it, and aim to raise their own worth by improving the business's value. In other words, they improve work engagement while decreasing turnover intention. However, moderation of procedure justice was not significant. The results conclude that procedural justice has no effect on enhancing the relationship between FWA and work engagement through an inclusion climate.

Keywords diversity, FWA, inclusion climate, procedural justice, work engagement, turnover intention

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 Introduction	1
1-1 Diverse workplace and FWA	2
1-2 Mediating mechanisms of inclusion climate	3
1-3 Moderated mediation mechanisms of procedural justice	5
2 Methods	7
2-1 Data collection procedure and participants	7
2-2 Measures	7
3 Results	9
3-1 Correlation and descriptive statistics	9
3-2 Hypothesis testing.	9
4 Discussion	13
4-1 Practical implication	13
4-2 Limitation and areas for future research	14
4-3 Conclusion	15
5 Appendix	16
6 References	19

THESIS ACKNOWLEDGMENT

First and foremost, I would like to convey my heartfelt thanks to my adviser, Prof. HAYASHI, Yoichiro, for his unwavering support of my studies and research, as well as his patience, encouragement, excitement, and vast knowledge. His advice was invaluable during the research and writing of this thesis. I couldn't have asked for a greater counselor and mentor for my studies.

Besides my advisor, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee: Prof. YAMAO, Sachiko and Prof. OYABU, Takeshi, for their words of support, insightful comments, and probing inquiries.

I am grateful to my colleague, Mr. Kim Pansu, for the insightful conversations, his constant encouragement, and his proactive guidance.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my family and partner for their patience and encouragement.

1 Introduction

The workforce in the 21st century is characterized by the inclusion of more women, diverse ethnic backgrounds, alternative lifestyles, and generational differences than in the past (Roberson & Stevens, 2006). To retain employees with diverse needs, organizations implement a variety of practices. Accordingly, human resource management must also adapt to changes in the working population. Flexible Work Arrangements (FWA) is an example of organizational practices which manage a diverse workforce. Rau & Hyland (2002) has defined FWA as a work option that generally allows for flexibility in terms of "where" and "when" work is completed. Both scholars and practitioners have paid close attention to FWA, with widely differing perspectives on the perceived benefits of applying diverse human resource strategies inside organizations (Chen & Fulmer, 2018). According to previous studies, FWAs are linked to a number of favorable employee outcomes, such as reduced work-life conflicts, increased employee satisfaction, increased work engagement, and increased job performance (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007; Gajendran, Harrison, & Delaney-Klinger, 2015). When examining the link between FWA and conceptions of work engagement, empirical research has reported variable and inconsistent results (Allen et al., 2013). Although the advantages of engaged workers are extensively established, the drivers of employee engagement are still regarded indefinable and imprecise (Chen & Fulmer, 2017).

The current study makes two contributes to the existing FWA literatures. Firstly, the study applies self-determination theory and optimal distinctive theory to examine how inclusion climate with FWA affects work engagement and turnover intention. Viewed through the lens of self-determination theory, FWA is one of the means by which employees feel a sense of autonomy, eventually leading to work engagement. Moreover, FWA gives employees the chance to have a healthy work-life balance while still being a part of the company makes them feel that they are valuable to the organization. This leads to a greater sense of belonging, which also increases work engagement. The relatedness in a culture of inclusion leads to longer-lasting relationships and lower turnover intentions.

According to optimal distinctive theory (Brewer, 1991), individuals strive to create a balance between the drive to find resemblance and belonging with others and the need to preserve a distinct identity. Based on ODT, Shore et al. (2011) claim that the literature on inclusion highlights concepts of belonging and uniqueness. Furthermore, FWA is a uniqueness and belonging signal that allows workers to continue working for

the business regardless of their circumstances. The existence and implementation of FWA will improve the atmosphere of inclusion and boost work engagement. Second, the study shed light on the impact of organizational fairness on the relationship between FWA and the inclusive environment. When employees think the FWA is effective and the organization has taken efforts to resolve their concerns, they sense procedural fairness for FWA use. This generates respect and pride in the psychological engagement model, which improves affiliation and sense of belonging to

1-1 Diverse workplace and FWA

the group.

The practices which fulfill diversified work style is called Flexible Work Arrangement (FWA). FWA is defined as "alternative work options that allow work to be accomplished outside of the traditional temporal and/or spatial boundaries of a standard work day" (Rau & Hyland, 2002). Possenried and Plantenga (2011) note that in the study on FWA, the researchers discuss three broad categories: flexible scheduling (flexi-time), location (teleworking), and length of work (part-time). A Flexi-time system enables employees to work shorter hours or different work hours with their supervisor or other co-workers. Location flexibility relates to the place of work, meaning that employees work outside their physical organizational environment (Austin-Egole et al, 2020). Bailey & Kurland (1999) defined four types of telework, which are: home-based telecommuting, satellite offices, neighborhood work centers, and mobile working. Flexibility in working hours, which generally means shorter or longer working hours per week, associates best with the idea of compressed work (Austin-Egole et al, 2020). The use of time off can also be considered FWA, as it allows individuals to flexibly manage their work style. According to research, FWA is linked to a number of significant organizational attitudes and results. A meta-analysis of 31 research conducted by Baltes et al. (1999) discovered that flexible arrangements were associated with productivity and performance, job satisfaction, absenteeism, and satisfaction. However, job satisfaction alone is not enough to fully capture the uplifting energy present in companies where employees are prospering (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2004). According to Schaufeli and Bakker's model of an upward positive spiral, increased job engagement and self-efficacy result in better performance across the board, in both the work and family spheres.

1-2 Mediating mechanisms of inclusion climate

The connection between FWA and work engagement, as well as turnover might be deepened by investigating if FWA supports an inclusive work environment. Work engagement refers to a positive and fulfilling psychological state at work. Kahn (1990) first introduced the concept of engagement and conceptualized it as the utilization of organization members' self to their roles. With engagement, people utilize and express themselves physically, cognitively, and emotionally as they perform their work roles. Schuafeli et al. (2002) stated that work engagement is a condition of positive emotions and motivation featuring vigor, dedication, and absorption. Vigor refers to "a high level of energy and psychological recovery while at work," dedication stands for "strong involvement in the work, a sense of significance and pride in the work," and absorption implies "concentration and focus on work" (Schuafeli et al, 2002, p.74-75). Sonnentag et al. (2008) state that an important factor in work engagement is the ability to psychologically detach from work during non-work time. Psychological detachment typically includes people's social relationships and activities, such as socializing with friends or pursuing hobbies. FWA is likely to increase work engagement because it allows employees to spend time outside of work.

Self-determination theory (SDT) (Ryan and Deci, 2000) claims that when people's intrinsic motivation rises as a result of their level of self-determination, they feel more energized and fulfilled at work. Intrinsic motivation is encouraged by the satisfaction or fulfillment of three essential psychological needs: autonomy, competence, and relatedness (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2002). When these three basic psychological requirements are satisfied, individuals are driven to execute an activity genuinely, because they enjoy it and find it personally satisfying (Ryan & Deci, 2017). Vallerand et al. (2008) noted that in SDT, the environment is not considered in and of itself, but rather what it implies functionally in terms of supporting people's psychological needs. FWA satisfies the need for autonomy by giving employees control over when, where, and how they work, which increases one's sense of fulfillment and engagement at work. Fulfilling the needs of relatedness also increases intrinsic motivation.

A person's sense of relatedness is characterized as a sense of connection with another person or group of people. An employee will experience a sense of belonging to the company, if they believe that others in the business value their job. According to relatedness research, perceived relatedness influences one's level of engagement in the activity (Furrer & Skinner, 2003). Inclusion is the extent to which employees feel they are part of important organizational processes, such as impacting decision-making

processes, involvement in important workgroups, and having access to information and resources (Barak, 2008; Roberson, 2006). Previous literatures argue that the inclusion climate is composed of belonging and uniqueness which results in quality relationships with supervisors and group members (Chung et al, 2020). Because people are able to build more eternal relationships with others through inclusion climate, their relatedness needs are satisfied, resulting in motivated action and increased work engagement.

The reason why FWA enhances job engagement through an inclusive atmosphere is explained by optimal distinctive theory. Optimal distinctive theory (Brewer, 1991) proposes that humans are marked by two conflicting desires that govern the relationship between self-concept and social group membership. One is the need for assimilation, and the other is differentiation from others. The FWA itself is an indicator that embodies uniqueness and belongingness. FWA has implemented a way of working that is suitable for various situations depending on the person. This leads to the unique position of employees being recognized and respected. There is also a sense of belonging to the organization without being abandoned, as FWA allows employees to continue working for the organization despite their circumstances. Therefore, the existence and use of FWA will increase inclusion climate and then strengthen work engagement.

Hypothesis 1a: Inclusion climate mediates the FWA-work engagement relationship.

FWA also leads to lower turnover intention through an inclusion climate. Turnover intention is defined as the intention to leave an organization (Tett and Meyer, 1993). In one of the previous studies showing the effect of FWA on employee retention, Almer and Kaplan (2002) found that accounting professionals who transitioned to FWA had lower turnover intentions. According to SDT, People are able to meet their desire for relatedness in a culture of inclusion because it enables them to form longer-lasting relationships with others. As a result, they are more driven in work and have lower turnover intentions. According to the conservation of resources theory, individuals strive to retain, protect, and enhance resources (Hobfoll, 1989, p. 513). The resources include personal characteristics, objects, conditions, energy, etc. Individuals will experience psychological stress when resources are at risk of being lost, when resources are actually lost, or when resources are not expected to increase. FWA allows employees to maintain their resources by giving them control to reduce the effort and energy required when balancing their work and life. Given this theory's conception,

FWA is recognized as lowering the loss of resources and thus indirectly lowering employee turnover intentions (Kroll and Nuesch, 2019).

Hypothesis 1b: Inclusion climate mediates the FWA-turnover intention relationship.

1-3 Mediated moderation mechanisms of procedural justice

Perceptions of organizational justice impact the relationship between FWA and the inclusive environment. Organizational justice (also called organizational fairness) is composed of three types of fairness: procedural justice, distributive justice, and interactional justice (Cohen-Charash & Spector, 2001). In this study, the main focus was on procedural justice, which is the type of perceptions that employees have of the policies and procedures under which the organization operates. The focus was on procedural justice because procedural justice is a form of justice that is highly associated with organizational systems such as FWA. Employees perceive procedural justice for FWA use when they perceive that the FWA is functional and that the organization has developed measures for them. The psychological engagement model is regarded with respect and pride because employees feel valued and treated equally (Tyler & Blader, 2003). An increase in respect and pride within a group strengthens one's identification with that group and one's sense of belonging to it. Therefore, procedural justice perception is considered a moderator.

Hypothesis 2a: Perceived procedural justice moderates the positive and indirect effect of FWA on work engagement through inclusion climate, such that this indirect effect is stronger when higher procedural justice is perceived.

Hypothesis 2b: Perceived procedural justice moderates the negative and indirect effect of FWA on turnover intention through inclusion climate, such that this indirect effect is stronger when higher procedural justice is perceived.

To summarize briefly, this paper would like to clarify the process by which flexible work arrangements (FWA) affect inclusion climate and influence organizational outcomes through mediation analysis. However, predicting that mediation effects are not always constant and vary with the perception of procedural justice, thus entering procedural justice as moderators. The following model is considered in this paper.

Perceived Procedural Justice

Inclusion Climate

Work Engagement Turnover Intension

Figure 1: Conceptual model of the study

2 Methods

2-1 Data collection procedure and participants

The 1006 participants were selected by an online survey company with a presence in Japan that had access to online panels, which are large samples of Japanese workers in various roles and occupations. The following three criteria were used to filter out respondents: (a) those who were regular, full-time workers at the time of the survey; (b) those who were middle managers; and (c) those who managed subordinates. The participants included 409 (40.7%) males and 597 (59.3%) females. Their average age was 37.16 (SD = 7.96). Data were collected through a three wave with two-week intervals online survey between November to December 2022. Scales written in English were translated into Japanese and back-translated to ensure that the meaning of the items was preserved (Brislin et al., 1973).

2-2 Measures

FWA usage. FWA usage was assessed by Allen's (2001) ten-item family-supportive benefit availability and use, however, adapted to fit the Japanese context. These include flex-time, work from home, telecommuting, reduced hours, parental leave, nursing care leave, in-house daycare center, three days off, exemption from overtime work, and staggered work hours. Respondents selected one of five responses for each item: 1) not offered but I don't need it; 2) not offered but I could use it; 3) offered but not used; and 4) offered and I use it; 5) I am not sure. The score for FWA usage was derived by scoring responses 1), 2), 3), and 5) as '0' and response 4) as '1'. Total FWA usage was computed by summing usage scores across all five items. The categorical nature of FWA usage scores makes the computation of reliability estimates irrelevant.

Inclusion climate. The climate of inclusion within workplace was assessed by Chung et al.'s (2020) workgroup Inclusion measure. Workgroup inclusion climate was measured by eight-item subscale. The sample items are "I am treated as a valued member of my work group" and "I can bring aspects of myself to this work group that others in the group don't have in common in with me." Participants responded to the items on a 5-point scale: 1) disagree; 2) slightly disagree; 3) could not say either; 4) slightly agree; 5) agree. The Cronbach's alpha for this scale was .95.

Turnover intention. Turnover intention was assessed by Shore, Newton, and Thornton (1990)'s measure. The intention to quit the job was assessed by a two-item subscale.

The items were "How likely is it that you will look for a job outside of this organization during the next year?" and "How often do you think about quitting your job at this organization?" Participants responded to the items on a 5-point scale: 1) disagree; 2) slightly disagree; 3) could not say either; 4) slightly agree; 5) agree. The Cronbach's alpha for this scale was .66.

Work Engagement. Work engagement was measured by the Japanese version of Schaufeli et al.'s (2003) Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES-9), which is validated and translated by Shimazu (2008). Participants' work engagement was assessed by nine-item subscale. The sample items are "When I get up in the morning, I feel like going to work" and "I feel happy when I am working intensely." Participants responded to the items on a 5-point scale: 1) disagree; 2) slightly disagree; 3) could not say either; 4) slightly agree; 5) agree. The Cronbach's alpha for this scale was .96.

Procedural justice. Procedural justice was measured by Colquitt (2015)'s full-range procedural justice scale. Perception of procedural justice was assessed by fourteen-item subscale. The sample items are "Are you able to express your views during those procedures?" "Do your views go unheard during those procedures?" "Can you influence the decisions arrived at by those procedures?" and "Do the decisions arrived at by those procedures lack your input?" Participants responded to the items on a 5-point scale: 1) disagree; 2) slightly disagree; 3) could not say either; 4) slightly agree; 5) agree. The Cronbach's alpha for this scale was .84.

3 Results

3-1 Correlation and descriptive statistics

Table 2 provides the descriptive statistics and correlations among the variables of the study.

Table 1: Descriptive statistics and correlations among variables

		Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	5
		Mean	SD	1			4	
	Gender	1.59	0.49					
	Age	37.16	7.96					
1	FWA usage	_	_	_				
2	Inclusion	3.14	0.92	.19**	(.95)			
3	Procedural justice	3.02	0.59	.11**	.33**	(.84)		
4	Turnover intention	2.76	1.09	05	28**	26**	(.66)	
5	Work engagement	2.6	0.99	.12**	.41**	.29**	22**	(.96)

(Gender is coded as 1=Male, 2=female. No correlation value for gender and FWA usage as they are categorical variables. **p < .01 *p < .05)

3-2 Hypothesis testing

Hypothesis 1a predicted the relationship between FWA and work engagement would be mediated by inclusion climate. Hypothesis 1b predicted the relationship between FWA and turnover intention would be mediated by inclusion. These hypotheses were tested by Baron and Kenny's (1986) four conditions for mediation and further confirmed the significance of indirect effects by PROCESS analysis (Hayes, 2022). Mediation is supported when the following conditions are met: (1) the predictor is significantly related to the dependent variable; (2) the predictor is significantly related to the mediator; (3) the mediator is significantly related to the dependent variable; and (4) the relationship between predictor and dependent variable appears weaker or becomes nonsignificant with the addition of the mediator. As presented in Table 2, FWA usage served as a significant predictor for work engagement (b = .08, t = 3.85, p <.01) and inclusion climate (b = .12, t = 6.29, p < .01) with age and gender controlled, supporting Conditions 1 and 2, respectively. The significant relationship between inclusion climate and work engagement (b = .45, t = 13.77, p < .01) supported Condition 3. When the predictor and the mediator were added simultaneously into the regression equation, the relationship of FWA usage with work engagement apparently weakened, for the regression coefficient decreased from b = .08 (t = 3.85, p < .01) to b

=.03 (t = 1.43, p = 0.15). Thus, Condition 4 was satisfied. The results of PROCESS analysis (5000 bootstrap samples) (see Table 3) further confirmed that the indirect effect of proactive personality on career adaptability via thriving was significant (b = .53, boot se = .01, 95%CI = [.04; .07]). These results indicated that inclusion climate mediated the relationship between FWA usage and work engagement. Therefore, Hypothesis 1a was supported.

Hypothesis 1b predicted the mediation effect of inclusion climate on the FWA-turnover intention relationship. Following Baron and Kenny's (1986) proposal, mediation analysis ends because relationship between FWA and turnover intention was not significant (b = -0.04, t = -1.7, p = .09). However, Kenny, Kashy, and Bolger (1998) argue that Step 1 is not required. With that said, we continued to conduct regression analyses to detect hypothesis 1b. From the regression analysis, the results are b = .12 (t = 6.29, p < .01), and thus FWA usage is significantly related to inclusion climate. The results of the multiple regression analysis are b = -.34 (t = -8.95, p < .01). Because both results were significant, we can say inclusion climate significantly mediates the relationship between FWA usage and turnover intention. The results of PROCESS analysis (5000 bootstrap samples) (see Table 3) further confirmed that the indirect effect of FWA usage on turnover intention via inclusion climate was significant (b = -.04, boot se = .01, 95%CI = [-.06; -.02]). Therefore, Hypothesis 1b was supported.

Table 2: Results of regression analysis followed by Baron and Kenny's 4 step analysis

	Step 1		Step 2	Step 3	
	Work	Turnover	Inclusion	Work	Turnover
	engagement	intention	climate	engagement	intention
Gender	07	.04	04	05	.03
Age	01	01	.01	01	01
FWA usage	.08**	04	.12**	.03	.01
Inclusion climate				.45**	34**
R^2	.02**	.01	.04**	.17**	.08**
$\triangle R^2$.01	.01	.04	.17	.07

^{**}p < .01, *p < .05

Table 3: Results of PROCESS analysis

FWA usage →	Inclusion	n climate → Work engagem	nent		
Mediator		Conditional Indirect Effect	SE	BootLLCI	BootULCI
Inclusion climate		.05	.01	.03	.07
Moderator	Level	Conditional Indirect Effect	SE	BootLLCI	BootULCI
Procedural Justice	High	.03	.01	.01	.06
	Low	.06	.02	.03	.09
Index of mediated moderation:					
Index		02	.02	05	.01

FWA usage →	Inclusion cli	\rightarrow Turnover intent	ion		
Mediator		Conditional Indirect Effect	SE	BootLLCI	BootULCI
Inclusion climate		04	.01	06	02
Moderator	Level	Conditional Indirect Effect	SE	BootLLCI	BootULCI
Procedural Justice	High	02	.01	04	01
	Low	05	.01	07	.02
Index of mediated moderation:					
Index		.02	.01	01	.04

Hypothesis 2a and 2b predicted that Perceived procedural justice moderates the positive and indirect effect of FWA on work engagement through inclusion climate. Hypotheses were tested by single model bootstrap method to assess the significance of indirect effects of mediator and moderator (Hayes, 2022). FWA usage was the independent variable and inclusion climate was the mediating variable. The outcome variables were work engagement and turnover intention. Perceived procedural justice was proposed as the moderator. The mediated moderation analysis tested the conditional indirect effect of the moderating variable (perceived procedural justice) on the relationship between the predictor variable (i.e., high perceived procedural justice vs. low perceived procedural justice) and the outcome variables (i.e., work engagement, turnover intention) via a latent mediator (inclusion climate). PROCESS for R macro, model 7, (Hayes, 2022) was used with bias-corrected 95% confidence intervals (n = 1006) to test the significance of the indirect (mediating) effect, or conditional indirect effect, adjusted by perceived procedural justice. This model explicitly tests the moderated effect on the path from predictor to mediator. An index of mediated moderation was used to test the significance of mediated moderation, i.e., the difference in indirect effects between levels of perceived procedural justice (Hayes, 2022). Significant effects are supported by the absence of zeros in the confidence intervals.

Hypothesis 2a predicted that the mediating effect of inclusion climate on the relationship between FWA usage and work engagement would be stronger for individuals with lower perceived procedure justice rather than high. This moderated mediation hypothesis was tested with Hayes' PROCESS macro for Model 7 based on 5000 bootstrap samples. The analysis generated an index of moderated mediation (index =- .02, boot se = .02, 95%CI = [- .05; .01]), which indicated that the moderating effect was not significant (Hayes, 2022). Thus, hypothesis 5 was not supported.

Hypothesis 2b predicted that the mediating effect of inclusion climate on the relationship between FWA usage and turnover intention would be stronger for individuals with low rather than high. This moderated mediation hypothesis was tested with Hayes' PROCESS macro for Model 7 based on 5000 bootstrap samples. The analysis generated an index of moderated mediation (index = .02, boot se = .01, 95%CI = [-.01; .04]), indicating that the moderating effect was not significant (Hayes, 2022). Thus, hypothesis 6 was not supported.

4 Discussion

With the increasing diversity of work environments, there has been an increased focus on how the effects of FWA affect organizations. In this study, we have examined how FWA usage leads to work engagement and turnover intentions through the mediating effects of inclusion climate and the moderating effects of procedural justice.

The findings supported the proposed mediation hypotheses. However, no support for the mediated moderation hypotheses. In general, the study confirms FWA usage has a positive effect on work engagement and a negative effect on turnover intention (close to significant).

From the perspective of self-determination theory, FWA is believed to enhance work engagement by giving employees autonomy over decisions about when, where, and how they work.

Based on optimal distinctive theory and self-determination theory, we draw the mediating hypothesis of inclusion climate (Hypotheses 1a & 1b). The result showed FWA usage positively affects work engagement through the partial mediation of inclusion climate. FWA sends the message that the organization respects the uniqueness of its employees and actively embraces their own ways of working, which enhances the employees' sense of belonging to the group. Employees who develop a sense of belonging identify themselves with the organization, contribute to the organization and seek to increase their own value by increasing the value of the organization. In other words, they increase work engagement and decrease turnover intentions. On the other hand, perceptions of procedural justice showed no moderating effect of FWA on work engagement and turnover intention through the inclusion climate (Hypotheses 2a &2b). In other words, procedural justice perceptions of fairness do not contribute to the outcomes. It can be inferred that employees did not view FWA as a mutually beneficial social exchange. It is possible that FWA was viewed as a taken-for-granted right for employees.

Another notable aspect of this study is the use of the R PROCESS as a method of analysis. Although the use of R as a method for mediation analysis is not yet widespread in Japan, we hope that this paper clarifies the steps of coordinated mediation analysis in R and can be used as study material.

4-1 Practical implication

From a practical standpoint, the study suggests that organizations consider offering work policies such as flextime and shorter workday programs to promote work engagement. The study also found that the inclusion climate is intervening in the

process of FWA improving engagement. In addition to implementing FWA, it is important for HR or managers to make employees perceive that they have the autonomy to choose their own work style. For example, regular one-on-one meetings to discuss their own work style and help them choose better measures for their work style. The concern is that employees may not be able to express themselves, so it is important to ensure psychological safety. Psychological safety refers to an environment in which employees can speak without hesitation and expose their true selves without anxiety. In the one-on-one meeting, managers could try to create an atmosphere in which the subordinate feels comfortable talking by offering support and empathy. In this way, organizations can retain employees when they have the autonomy to decide how they work and a sense that they are valued by the organization.

4-2 Limitation and areas for future research

Research findings should be considered within the constraints of the database. Results may vary in different contexts. Given that there are many types of FWAs, differences in the effects of various types of FWAs on organizational outcomes can be expected. The study focused on FWA usage as an independent variable and therefore lacks a investigation from FWA accessibility. By including the availability of FWAs as a variable, it is possible to examine the impact on organizational outcomes of the perception that a wide variety of FWAs are offered in the workplace, as well as from the perspective of those who experience FWAs. Naito & Hayashi (2022) argued that FWA should be examined from non-users' perspective, as well as users 'perspective . They defined non-users as employees who could not always get benefits from FWA systems. By incorporating FWA users' and non-uses perspectives, we can gain more comprehensive insight into the nature and impact of FWA on organizational outcomes.

The moderating effect of procedural justice on the association between FWA and inclusion, was not significant. The results imply other variables to moderate the mediational role of inclusion. Since this was a correlational study, it was not possible to prove causality among variables. In the future, we would like to prove causality among variables using experimental methods.

In addition, while this study focused only on the positive aspects of FWA, the negative aspects should also be analyzed in depth in the future. For instance, injustice perception and sub-groups might occur due to FWA.

4-3 Conclusion

This study developed and tested a mediated moderation model that explains the relationship between FWA and work engagement, as well as turnover intention. The mediation effect of inclusion climate was found to enhance the relationship of FWA usage and work engagement. The practical implications for HR managers are to foster climate of inclusion, thereby helping employees find meaning in their work and promoting a positive and supportive organizational environment.

5 Appendix: Questionnaire Items

- Q. あなたの会社内で提供されている働き方についてお聞きします。
- 1. フレックスタイム制度

(始業・終業時刻や勤務時間を上司と相談して決めることで、生活と仕事 のバランスを取りながら効率的に働くことができる仕組み)

2. 在宅勤務

(自宅からの勤務)

3. モバイルワーク制度

(移動中の車内、コーワーキングスペース、ワークスペース、サテライトオフィスなど自社以外の場所での勤務)

4. 短時間勤務制度

(仕事と家庭を両立させるために労働時間を短縮する働き方。1日の所定労働時間を原則として6時間(5時間45分から6時間まで)とする制度。)

5. 育児休暇

(育児のための休暇制度)

6. 介護休暇

(従業員が要介護状態にある対象家族の介護や世話をするための休暇)

7. 社内託児所

(会社の敷地内や近隣に保育スペースや保育士を配置し、従業員の子ども を預かる制度)

8. 调休3日制度(调4日勤務制度)

(一週間のうち3日休日とする制度)

9. 所定外労働の制限(残業免除)

(育児や介護のために残業などの所定外労働を免除できる制度)

10. 時差出勤制度

(所定内労働8時間労働休憩1時間を基準に、「8時~17時」、「10時~19時」など出勤退勤時間をずらせる制度。フレックスタイム制度との違いは、8時間労働が決まっているかどうかである。)

回答:

- (1)提供されていないが、必要ではない
- (2)提供されていないが、あれば利用したい
- (3)提供されているが、利用していない
- (4)提供されていて、利用している
- (5)よくわからない

- Q. 職場においては、給与、各種手当、評価、昇進、配置転換など、あなたを含めた個々の従業員に重大な影響を与える様々な意思決定が下されます。そのような意思決定の際の手続きやプロセスについてお聞きします。
- 1. その手続きやプロセスにおいて、従業員は意見を述べることができる。
- 2. その手続きの中で、従業員の意見は聞き入れられない。
- 3. その手続きによって下された決定に対して、従業員は影響力を行使できる。
- 4. その手続きで下される決定には、従業員の意見が反映されていない。
- 5. | その手続きやプロセスは一貫している。
- 6. | その手続きは、偏って行われている。
- 7. 「その手続きは、偏っていない。
- 8. | 意思決定を行うための手続きやプロセスは一面的で偏っている。
- 9. その手続きやプロセスは、正確な情報に基づいて進められている。
- 10. その手続きは、誤った情報に基づいている。
- 11. その手続きで決定された事項に対して、異議を申し立てることができる。
- 12. その手続きで下された決定は変更不能である。
- 13. その手続きやプロセスは、基本的な倫理やモラルを順守したものである。
- 14. その手続きは、原則に沿っていない、間違ったものである。

回答:

- 1) 当てはまらない
- 2) あまり当てはまらない
- 3) どちらとも言えない
- 4) やや当てはまる
- 5) 当てはまる
- 1) 当てはまる
- Q. あなたの職場環境についてお答えください。
- 1. |職場グループの中で私は価値のある人間として扱われている。
- 2. 職場グループの中で私は帰属感を感じる。
- 3. 職場グループは自分のいるべき場所だと思う。
- 4. 職場グループの人々は私のことを大切に思ってくれていると感じる。
- 5. 私は他の職場グループメンバーがもっていない自分の側面を職場グループに持ち込むことができる。

- 6. 私の考えが他と違っても、職場の人は自分の意見を聞いてくれる。
- 7. 仕事の際、職場グループと異なる意見を安心して述べる事ができる。
- 8. 私は職場グループの他のメンバーと仕事に対して異なる意見を持っていたとしても、それを伝えることができる。

Q. あなたの仕事についてお答えください

1.	今後1年の間に、現在の組織外で仕事を探すつもりはある。
2.	この組織の仕事を辞めたいと考えることはよくある。
3.	仕事をしていると、活力がみなぎるように感じる。
4.	職場では、元気が出て精力的になるように感じる。
5.	仕事に熱心である。
6.	仕事は、私に活力を与えてくれる。
7.	朝目が覚めると、さあ仕事へ行こう、という気持ちになる。
8.	仕事に没頭しているとき、幸せだと感じる。
9.	自分の仕事に誇りを感じる。
10.	私は、仕事にのめり込んでいる。
11.	仕事をしていると、つい夢中になってしまう。

6 References

- Adams, J. S. (1965). Inequity in social exchange. In *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 2, pp. 267-299). Academic Press.
- Albion, M. J. (2004). A measure of attitudes towards flexible work options. *Australian Journal of Management*, 29(2), 275-294.
- Allen, T. D. (2001). Family-supportive work environments: The role of organizational perceptions. Journal of vocational behavior, 58(3), 414-435.
- Allen, T. D., & Shockley, K. (2009). Flexible work arrangements: Help or hype. *Handbook of families and work: Interdisciplinary perspectives*, 265-284.
- Allen, T. D., Johnson, R. C., Kiburz, K. M., & Shockley, K. M. (2013). Work–family conflict and flexible work arrangements: Deconstructing flexibility. *Personnel psychology*, 66(2), 345-376.
- Almer, E. D., & Kaplan, S. E. (2002). The effects of flexible work arrangements on stressors, burnout, and behavioral job outcomes in public accounting. *Behavioral Research in Accounting*, *14*(1), 1-34.
- Austin-Egole, I. S., Iheriohanma, E. B. J., & Nwokorie, C. (2020). Flexible working arrangements and organizational performance: An overview. IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science (IOSR-JHSS), 25(5), 50-59.
- Bailey, N. B. K. D. E., & Kurland, N. B. (1999). The advantages and challenges of working here, there, anywhere, and anytime. *Organizational dynamics*, 28(2), 53-68.
- Baltes, B. B., Briggs, T. E., Huff, J. W., Wright, J. A., & Neuman, G. A. (1999). Flexible and compressed workweek schedules: A meta-analysis of their effects on work-related criteria. Journal of applied psychology, 84(4), 496.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *51*(6), 1173.
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2007). The job demands-resources model: State of the art. Journal of managerial psychology, 22(3), 309-328.
- Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Sanz-Vergel, A. I. (2014). Burnout and work engagement: The JD–R approach. *Annual review of organizational psychology and organizational behavior*, *I*(1), 389-411.
- Barak, M. M. (2008). Social psychological perspectives of workforce diversity and inclusion in national and global contexts. Handbook of human service management, 239-254.
- Behson, S. J. (2005). The relative contribution of formal and informal organizational work–family support. *Journal of vocational behavior*, 66(3), 487-500.

- Bos, V. D. K., Lind, E. A., & Wilke, H. A. (2001). The psychology of procedural and distributive justice viewed from the perspective of fairness heuristic theory.
- Bourdeau, S., Ollier-Malaterre, A., & Houlfort, N. (2019). Not all work-life policies are created equal: Career consequences of using enabling versus enclosing work-life policies. *Academy of Management Review*, 44(1), 172-193.
- Brewer, M. B. (1991). The social self: On being the same and different at the same time. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 17, 475–482.
- Brewer, M. B. (2007). The importance of being we: human nature and intergroup relations. *American psychologist*, 62(8), 728.
- Burke, R. J. (2005). Backlash in the workplace. Women in Management Review.
- Burke, R. J., & Black, S. (1997). Save the males: Backlash in organizations. *Women in Corporate Management*, 61-70.
- Carton, A. M., & Cummings, J. N. (2012). A theory of subgroups in work teams. *Academy of management review*, 37(3), 441-470.
- Cohen-Charash, Y., & Mueller, J. S. (2007). Does perceived unfairness exacerbate or mitigate interpersonal counterproductive work behaviors related to envy?. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92, 666-680.
- Cohen-Charash, Y., & Spector, P. E. (2001). The role of justice in organizations: A meta-analysis. Organizational behavior and human decision processes, 86(2), 278-321.
- Colarelli, S. M. (1984). Methods of communication and mediating processes in realistic job previews. Journal of Applied Psychology, 69, 633–642.
- Colquitt, J. A., & Rodell, J. B. (2015). Measuring justice and fairness.
- Chen, Y., & Fulmer, I. S. (2018). Fine-tuning what we know about employees' experience with flexible work arrangements and their job attitudes. Human Resource Management, 57(1), 381-395.
- Chrobot-Mason, D., Ruderman, M. N., Weber, T. J., & Ernst, C. (2009). The challenge of leading on unstable ground: Triggers that activate social identity faultlines. *Human Relations*, 62(11), 1763-1794.
- Chung, B. G., Ehrhart, K. H., Shore, L. M., Randel, A. E., Dean, M. A., & Kedharnath, U. (2020). Work group inclusion: Test of a scale and model. *Group & Organization Management*, 45(1), 75-102.
- Cropanzano, R., & Mitchell, M. S. (2005). Social exchange theory: An interdisciplinary review. Journal of management, 31(6), 874-900.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). *Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior*. New York, NY: Plenum.

- Downes, C., & Koekemoer, E. (2011). Work-life balance policies: Challenges and benefits associated with implementing flexitime. SA *Journal of Human Resource Management*, 9(1), 1-13.
- Downey, S. N., van der Werff, L., Thomas, K. M., & Plaut, V. C. (2015). The role of diversity practices and inclusion in promoting trust and employee engagement. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 45(1), 35-44.
- Emerson, R.M. (1976). "Social exchange theory". *Annual Review of Sociology*. Vol. 2. pp. 335-362.
- Fox, S., & Spector, P. E. (1999). A model of work frustration–aggression. *Journal of organizational behavior*, 20(6), 915-931.
- Furrer C, Skinner E.(2003). Sense of relatedness as a factor in children's academic engagement and performance. *J Educ Psychol* 95(1),148-162.
- Gajendran, R. S., Harrison, D. A., & Delaney-Klinger, K. (2015). Are telecommuters remotely good citizens? Unpacking telecommuting's effects on performance via ideals and job resources. Personnel psychology, 68(2), 353-393.
- Gilliland, Stephen & Chan, David. (2001). Justice in Organizations: Theory, Methods, and Applications. *Handbook of Industrial, Work, and Organizational Psychology*. 2.
- Goode, W.J. (1982) in Thorne, B. and Yalon, M. (Eds), *Rethinking the Family: Some Feminist Questions*, Longman, Inc., New York, NY.
- Hayes, A. F. (2022). *Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach*. Guilford publications.
- Heider, F. (1958). The psychology of interpersonal relations. New York: Wiley.
- Hobfoll, S. E. 1989. "Conservation of Resources: A New Attempt at Conceptualizing Stress." American Psychologist. 44(3),513–24.
- Kahn, W. A. (1990). Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work. *Academy of management journal*, 33(4), 692-724.
- Kenny, D. A., Kashy, D. A., & Bolger, N. (1998). Data analysis in social psychology. In D. Gilbert, S. T. Fiske, & G. Lindzey (Eds.), The handbook of social psychology (4th ed., Vol. 1, pp. 223–265). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Kidder, D. L., Lankau, M. J., Chrobot-Mason, D., Mollica, K. A., & Friedman, R. A. (2004). Backlash toward diversity initiatives: Examining the impact of diversity program justification, personal and group outcomes. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 15(1), 77-102.
- Kroll, C., and S. Nuesch. 2019. The Effects of Flexible Work Practices on Employee Attitudes: Evidence from a Large-Scale Panel Study in Germany. The International *Journal of Human Resource Management*. 30(9):1505–25.

- Leslie, L. M., Bono, J. E., Kim, Y. S., & Beaver, G. R. (2020). On melting pots and salad bowls: A meta-analysis of the effects of identity-blind and identity-conscious diversity ideologies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 105(5), 453-471.
- Lind, E. A., & Tyler, T. R. (1988). *The social psychology of procedural justice*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Lind, E. A., & Van den Bos, K. (2002). When fairness works: Toward a general theory of uncertainty management. *Research in organizational behavior*, 24, 181-223.
- 内藤 知加恵・林 洋一郎(2022). 「多様な働き方がもたらす「分断」の発生トリガーテキストマイニングを用いた探索的研究」. 『経営行動科学学会第 25 回年次大会発表論文集』.108-114.
- Parrott, W. G., & Smith, R. H. (1993). Distinguishing the experiences of envy and jealousy. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 64, 906 –920.
- Perrigino, M. B., Dunford, B. B., & Wilson, K. S. (2018). Work–family backlash: The "dark side" of work–life balance (WLB) policies. *The Academy of Management Annals*, 12(2), 600–630.
- Possenriede, D. S., & Plantenga, J. (2011). Access to flexible work arrangements, working-time fit and job satisfaction. *Discussion Paper Series/Tjalling C. Koopmans Research Institute*, 11(22).
- Pugh, S. D., Dietz, J., Brief, A. P., & Wiley, J. W. (2008). Looking inside and out: The impact of employee and community demographic composition on organizational diversity climate. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93, 1422–1428.
- Rau, B. L., & Hyland, M. A. M. (2002). Role conflict and flexible work arrangements: The effects on applicant attraction. *Personnel psychology*, 55(1), 111-136.
- Richman, A. L., Civian, J. T., Shannon, L. L., Jeffrey Hill, E., & Brennan, R. T. (2008). The relationship of perceived flexibility, supportive work–life policies, and use of formal flexible arrangements and occasional flexibility to employee engagement and expected retention. *Community, work and family*, 11(2), 183-197.
- Roberson, Quinetta & Stevens, Cynthia. (2006). Making Sense of Diversity in the Workplace: Organizational Justice and Language Abstraction in Employees' Accounts of Diversity-Related Incidents. *The Journal of applied psychology*. 91. 379-391.
- Roberson, Q., Ryan, A. M., & Ragins, B. R. (2017). The evolution and future of diversity at work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 483–499.
- Roberson, Q. M. (2019). Diversity in the workplace: A review, synthesis, and future research agenda. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 6, 69-88.

- Rousseau, Denise M. (2001). Flexibility versus fairness. *Organizational dynamics*, 29(4), 260-273.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions. *Contemporary educational psychology*, 25(1), 54-67.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2002). Overview of self-determination theory: An organismic dialectical perspective. In E. L. Deci & R. M. Ryan (Eds.), *Handbook of selfdetermination research* (pp. 3-36). Rochester, NY: University of Rochester Press
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Schaufeli, W. B., & Bakker, A. B. (2004). Job demands, job resources, and their relationship with burnout and engagement: A multi-sample study. *Journal of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychology and Behavior*, 25(3), 293-315.
- Schaufeli, W. B., Bakker, A. B., & Salanova, M. (2003). Utrecht work engagement scale-9. Educational and Psychological Measurement.
- Schaufeli, W. B., Salanova, M., González-Romá, V., & Bakker, A. B. (2002). The measurement of engagement and burnout: A two sample confirmatory factor analytic approach. *Journal of Happiness studies*, 3(1), 71-92.
- Schmitt, M., Baumert, A., Gollwitzer, M., & Maes, J. (2010). The Justice Sensitivity Inventory: Factorial validity, location in the personality facet space, demographic pattern, and normative data. *Social Justice research*, 23(2), 211-238.
- Schots, M. and Taskin, L. (2005). "Flexible working times: towards a new employment relationship?". *Paper Presented at Fourth International Conference on Critical Management Studies*. Cambridge, UK. 4-6 July.
- Shimazu, A., Schaufeli, W. B., Kosugi, S., Suzuki, A., Nashiwa, H., Kato, A., ... & Kitaoka-Higashiguchi, K. (2008). Work engagement in Japan: validation of the Japanese version of the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale. *Applied Psychology*, *57*(3), 510-523.
- Shockley, K. M., & Allen, T. D. (2007). When flexibility helps: Another look at the availability of flexible work arrangements and work–family conflict. *Journal of vocational behavior*. 71(3). 479-493.
- Shore, L. M., Newton, L. A., & Thornton III, G. C. (1990). Job and organizational attitudes in relation to employee behavioral intentions. *Journal of Organizational behavior*, 11(1), 57-67.

- Shore, L. M., Randel, A. E., Chung, B. G., Dean, M. A., Holcombe Ehrhart, K., & Singh, G. (2011). Inclusion and diversity in work groups: A review and model for future research. Journal of management, 37(4), 1262-1289.
- Sonnentag, S., Mojza, E. J., Binnewies, C., & Scholl, A. (2008). Being engaged at work and detached at home: A week-level study on work engagement, psychological detachment, and affect. Work & Stress, 22(3), 257-276.
- Spence, M. (1978). Job market signaling. In *Uncertainty in economics* (pp. 281-306). Academic Press.
- Stock, R., Strecker, M. and Bieling, G. (2016). "Organizational work–family support as universal remedy? A cross-cultural comparison of China, India and the USA". *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*. Vol. 27 (11). 1192-1216.
- Tajfel, H. E. (1978). Differentiation between social groups: Studies in the social psychology of intergroup relations. Academic Press.
- Tett, R. and Meyer, J. (1993), "Job satisfaction, organizational commitment, turnover intention, and turnover: path analyses based on meta-analytic findings", *Personnel Psychology*, Vol. 46 (2). 259-293.
- Timms, C., Brough, P., O'Driscoll, M., Kalliath, T., Siu, O. L., Sit, C., & Lo, D. (2015). Flexible work arrangements, work engagement, turnover intentions and psychological health. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, *53*(1), 83-103.
- Turner, J. C., & Reynolds, K. J. (1987). A self-categorization theory. *Rediscovering the social group: A self-categorization theory*.
- Tyler, T. R., & Blader, S. L. (2003). The group engagement model: Procedural justice, social identity, and cooperative behavior. Personality and social psychology review, 7(4), 349-361.
- Vallerand, R. J., Pelletier, L. G., & Koestner, R. (2008). Reflections on self-determination theory. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadianne*, 49(3), 257.
- Young, M. B. (1999). Work-family backlash: begging the question, what's fair?. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 562(1), 32-46.